ALASKA STATE LEGQ SLATURE
HOUSE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 19, 2008
8:05 a.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Bob Lynn, Chair
Represent ati ve Bob Roses, Vice Chair
Representati ve John Coghill
Representati ve Craig Johnson
Represent ati ve Andrea Dol |
Representati ve Max G uenberg

MEMBERS ABSENT
Representati ve Kyl e Johansen
COW TTEE CALENDAR
HOUSE BI LL NO. 318
"An Act relating to the location of the convening of the
| egislature in a special session; and providing for an effective
date."
- HEARD AND HELD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 318

SHORT TITLE: LOCATI ON OF SPECI AL SESSI ONS
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) GATTO

01/15/08 (H) READ THE FIRST TIME - REFERRALS
01/15/08 (H STA, FIN
02/19/08 (H) STA AT 8:00 AM CAPI TOL 106

W TNESS REG STER

REPRESENTATI VE CARL GATTO

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Presented HB 318 as prine sponsor.

KARLA SCHOFI ELD, Deputy Director

Adm ni strative Services
Legi sl ative Affairs Agency

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE -1- February 19, 2008



Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: During the hearing on HB 318, provided
information related to the estimted cost of holding special
sessi ons outside of Juneau.

TAMMY W LSON

Nort h Pol e, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of herself in support
of HB 318.

VI VI AN STI VER

Fai r banks, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of herself in support
of HB 318.

W N GRUENI NG

Al aska Comm ttee

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified on behalf of the Al aska Conmmittee
during the hearing on HB 318.

RANDY WANNAMAKER, Deputy Mayor

City & Borough of Juneau (CBJ)

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on HB 318.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

CHAIR BOB LYNN called the House State Affairs Standing Commttee
nmeeting to order at 8:04:27 AM Representatives Roses, Coghill,
Johnson, Doll, and Lynn were present at the call to order.
Representative Gruenberg arrived as the neeting was in progress.

HB 318- LOCATI ON OF SPECI AL SESSI ONS

8:04:46 AM

CHAI R LYNN announced that the only order of business was HOUSE
BILL NO 318, "An Act relating to the location of the convening
of the legislature in a special session; and providing for an
effective date.”

8:05:10 AM
REPRESENTATI VE CARL GATTO, Alaska State Legislature, presented

HB 318 as prime sponsor. He said special sessions are a fairly
common event. He relayed that on a recent trip to Juneau, the

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 2- February 19, 2008



plane - carrying many legislators, departnent heads, and the
governor - was unable to land in Juneau due to weather. He said
in the past legislators have given up their housing in Juneau by
the time a special session is called and have had to scranble
for places to live - sonme of them resorting to living in their
of fices.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO said the special session held in Anchorage
in 2007 lasted seven hours and was reported to have cost
$100,000. He noted that the npbst expensive airfare possible for
roundtrip flights from Juneau to Anchorage was used in the
cal cul ati on. He said, "It did seemto nme, in the areas that |
knew, that the bill was padded."”

8:09:37 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO said he thinks the special session should
be held [outside of Juneau]. He indicated a preference for
sessions to be held outside of Juneau - near to where two-thirds
of the population is on a road system

8:10: 52 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO, in response to a question from Chair Lynn

said he does not know the exact nunber of |egislators that were
on the aforenentioned airplane, but he said, "If you count
| egislators and administrators and whatnot, it seened |ike we
shoul d have chartered the plan."

CHAI R LYNN concluded that if that plane had gone down, the state
woul d have | ost nunerous |egislators and the governor.

8:12:12 AM

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL noted that the bill does not designate where
speci al sessions would be held, thus, she presunes it could be
held in various |ocales.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO confirmed that the bill does not specify
Anchorage; it sinply would allow special sessions to be held on
"the interconnected road system"™ |In response to Representative
Doll, he admtted that the necessary equi pnent would have to be
noved to the special session |locale, then back to the capital
He said his enphasis is on giving the best possible access to
the public. He added, "I have a feeling that there would be a
favorite place and we woul d probably stay there.”

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 3- February 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE DOLL asked what the cost of a 30-day session
woul d be.

8:16: 36 AM

KARLA  SCHCFI ELD, Deputy Director, Adm ni strative Services,
Legislative Affairs Agency, said the npbst recent special
session, held in Juneau, cost approxi mately $800,000. The usual
estimate for a 30-day special session is a $50,000 one-tine cost
- to bring legislators to and from Juneau - and a $25,000 daily
cost . However, she said the cost varies depending on the
subj ect and whether or not |eadership wants to hire contractors.
She said Representative Gatto had asked for the cost of a two-
week special session in Anchorage, which she said would cost
nore nmoney [than holding it in Juneau]. She tal ked about all
t he people behind the scenes who are needed to put on a special
session, such as the Chief Cerk and Senate Secretary, and the
staff of Data Processing. She noted that a very miniml staff
was sent to the one-day session in Anchorage, and sone of that
staff volunteered to serve as pages - a job they would not be
able to cover during a 30-day session, because they would be
busy doing work for the | egislators.

MS. SCHOFI ELD addressed the fiscal note in the committee packet,
[dated 2/18/ 08 and prepared by M. Schofield]. She said she
chose the Egan Convention Center in Anchorage and the Carlson
Center in Fairbanks as two places that could house a special
sessi on. She corrected a m sconception that having a speci al
session in Anchorage would nean only the people in Anchorage
woul d be working, by noting that there are people in Juneau who
work during a special session outside of Juneau, such as the
staff of House and Senate Records who record and transcribe the
m nut es. She indicated an extra cost of $26,000 to send staff
to Anchorage from the Legislative Information and Data
Processing O fices.

8:19:56 AM

M5. SCHOFI ELD said any tine a special session is held outside of
Juneau there will be the added cost of sending technical staff
ahead of the start of the special session to set up and then
remai n throughout the special session. The cost for personal
services, she said, is the sane whether the special session is
held in Juneau or Anchorage. Regarding travel, she noted that
al though it does cost less to send legislators to Anchorage than
to Juneau, nore staff needs to be sent to Anchorage. She
i ndicated that the nunber of staff she used in her calcul ations

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 4- February 19, 2008



was 57. Bringing all staff would cost close to $30, 000. She
said the optinmal special session outside of Juneau would
replicate the ones held in Juneau. She said the per diemrate
is higher in Anchorage in the sumer than it is in Juneau.
There are 28 legislators who live within a 50-mle radius of the
Egan Convention Center who would get 75 percent of the per diem
rate, which is what Juneau |egislators get in Juneau; however,
there is the additional cost of the staff that would be
necessary. She explained that staff authorized to travel to a
special session are considered to be on a trip and, thus, get
per di em

8:22:54 AM

VB. SCHOFI ELD said the biggest issue is regarding the
avai lability of space. She noted that the Egan Convention
Center is larger than the Carl Center. She said currently the
| egislature is "considering block 39" in Anchorage, which she

related is not big enough to house every legislator. She added,
"But if that goes through and we end up with a |arger space for
the legislature, there are conference roons that we could use
for the session, but that wouldn't be until 2010." There is
not hi ng conparable in Fairbanks. She said she assunes the
| egislature would want to alternate where it net for special
sessions outside of Juneau.

M5. SCHOFI ELD said 17 boxes were sent to Anchorage for the one-
day special session, but she is certain a |ot nore boxes would
have to be sent for a 14-day special session. She said all
| egi sl ators have lap top conputers now, which they may choose to
bri ng. She suggested that for office space, |egislators m ght
"canp out in their hotel roons or in other |legislators'
of fices." Copiers would have to be rented, but the cost of
supplies would be about the sane. She pointed out that there is
no voting machine outside of Juneau, and the purpose of the

machine is to keep track of voting records. She said "voice
votes"” could be conducted, but would not work well for a |ong
period of tinme. Another issue is one of confidentiality. | f

peopl e are asking for a lot of amendnents, she said, it nust be
guaranteed that only the legislator asking for information is
privy to the response. She nentioned For The Record (FTR), the
recordi ng systemused to keep the public record.

8:25:41 AM

M5. SCHOFIELD, in response to a question from Representative
Doll, reiterated that the l|last 30-day sessions held in Juneau

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 5- February 19, 2008



have cost approxi mately $800,000 and outside of Juneau woul d be
nore, depending on what | eadership deens necessary.

8:26:25 AM

CHAI R LYNN asked about a handout that shows statistics related
to air flights that have been diverted from Juneau.

8:26: 32 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO indicated that he had received that
information from the Departnment of Transportation & Public
Facilities (DOT&PF). He said delays occur at the Anchorage
I nternational Airport; however, he said he thinks that "everyone
here would probably acknowl edge that Anchorage is a pretty
dependabl e airport."

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO asked Ms. Schofield what the annual budget
is for Legislative Affairs.

M5. SCHOFI ELD said the answer depends on what aspect of the

| egislature 1is being discussed. The session budget is
approximately $6 mllion or nore.
8:29:28 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO asked the commttee to consider the cost to
those constituents who want to testify in person. He said
Juneau becane the capital originally because it was the center
of commerce, but the center of both commerce and the state's
popul ati on have shifted. He stated that "this |ocation of
Sout heast [ Al aska] shows a di m nishing population with tinme."

8:31: 26 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO, in response to a question from Chair Lynn
confirmed that the bill is not proposing to nove the capital
but only to hold special sessions outside of the capital on the
i nterconnected state road systemin order to give access to the
greatest concentration of the state's popul ation.

8:32: 26 AM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL directed attention to |anguage on [page
2, lines 12-13], which read as foll ows:

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 6- February 19, 2008



(b) A special session may be held only at a [ANY]
| ocation on the interconnected state road system [IN
THE STATE].

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL asked Representative Gatto for the
definition of "interconnected state road system"

8:32:53 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO said such a system ought to be on hard
surface roads, and he expressed his inclination is to specify
the "rail belt," because that would include the najor cities and
"very clearly defines what we nean by the system™

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL noted that by using the word "only", the
sponsor means to exclude many |ocations and narrow down the
accepted area.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO confirnmed that that is his intention.
8:33: 55 AM

REPRESENTATI VE CGRUENBERG observed that the interconnected road
system as defined by the bill sponsor, would exclude Juneau as
a possible location for special sessions, because even if a road
is built, there would still be a portion of the road that would
be the navigable waters used by the Al aska Marine H ghway System
(AVHS) .

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO responded, "I believe that's true."

8:34:40 AM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSON remarked that even though AMHS' s route is
considered an interconnected state road system he would
"hesitate to think the part that goes through the Yukon and

British Colunbia could ever be construed as a state road."

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said that the |anguage in the bill is
not cl ear.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO said he thinks changing the |anguage to
“the rail belt"” would clarify the matter.

8: 35: 37 AM

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE -7- February 19, 2008



REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG said Ms. Schofield has given the cost
related to holding special sessions in Anchorage, and he would
like to see a fiscal note reflecting "the nost expensive and the
| ongest potential session.”

IVS. SCHOFI ELD, in response to Representative G uenberg,
clarified that the fiscal note does include Fairbanks as a
possi ble location for a special session, and she reiterated that
the cost would be higher. She stated, "Under these assunptions
- for a two-week [session] - it would be $438,000 extra." In
response to a followup question, she indicated that a 30-day
session in Fairbanks would nost likely be cal cul ated by renoving
the one-tine travel costs, doubling the remainder, [and adding
back in the one-tine travel cost].

8: 36: 55 AM

REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL remarked that Juneau has, in many ways

been a good host comunity. He recomended talking to
prospective communities and asking if they are wlling to put
forth what Juneau has. He explained that he is saying that in
def ense of Juneau. He stated that he does not mnd increasing
the scope of where a special session may be held - a capability

he said he thinks is already allowed by statute. He i ndicated
that this bill may not even be necessary.
8:38:31 AM

CHAIR LYNN said the people of Juneau are cordial and he praised
their hospitality. He clarified that the bill "has nothing to
do with Juneau itself or anything that goes on here," but rather
is just addressing "the practicalities of where we mght have a
speci al session.”

8:39:27 AM

M5. SCHOFIELD, in response to a question from Representative
Roses, said car rentals are usually approved for |egislators who
do not have access to a vehicle and need one to get to session,
and that would be no different in Anchorage, for exanple, than
it is in Juneau.

REPRESENTATI VE ROSES pointed out that a lot nore legislators
woul d have access to their cars on the interconnected state road
system than in Juneau. He said he thinks there are a |ot of
costs involved that aren't reported because they are considered
part of normal expense, but he said he thinks many of those

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 8- February 19, 2008



costs would be deferred. He said he hopes that the |egislature,
because of the expense involved, would want to let comrunities
bid on having the special session in their town, because he said
he guarantees the cost would be driven down consi derably.

8:41:14 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG referred to a sentence from Article |1
Section 9, of the Constitution of the State of Al aska, which

read: "Special sessions may be called by the governor or by
vote of two-thirds of the legislators.™ He said a legislature
cannot bind a subsequent legislature on such issues as
appropri ations. He questioned the constitutionality of the
proposed legislation, explaining that it attenpts - in this
| egislature - to bind a separate future |egislature on where it
may hol d special sessions. He asked the bill sponsor if he has

obtained a | egal opinion on that issue.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO answered, "Not to ny know edge."” He
cont i nued:

However, any special session requires expenditure of
funds. And whether or not it's binding on a different
| egislature to say, "W're going to spend a certain
anmount of noney only in one location, and that's
legitimate for every future legislative session,”
versus, "W're going to spend the noney in a different
| ocation and possibly a different amount," since the
anount of noney is not certain in any event.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG r esponded:

That raises a second issue whether this could bind the
appropriations to pay for this. | think it's pretty
clear it ~could not. I'"'m tal king about the text
itself, whether the current text - the authorizing
legislation that attenpts to bind where a future
| egislature could call itself into session - would be.

REPRESENTATI VE GRUENBERG noted that HB 318 woul d not be heard by
the House Judiciary Standing Conmittee, and he said he thinks
the commttee should get a legal opinion regarding the bill's
constitutionality.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO said, "I think this is a thin argunment that

is there only to maybe raise a question.” He said he thinks the
question is certainly answered in the constitution, which sinply

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE - 9- February 19, 2008



states that the legislature nmay call itself into a session. The
inplication is that doing so will cost noney no matter where the
session is held. He said the legislature is not binding another
| egislature by calling itself in or being called in by the
gover nor.

8:44: 43 AM

REPRESENTATI VE DOLL questioned the use of the word "only" [text
provi ded previously], which would nmean the legislature would
have to neet outside of Juneau, even for a special session that
was called to begin directly after a regular session when all
the legislators would still be in Juneau. She renmarked that
much of the state is being left out of consideration. She asked
the bill sponsor to comrent.

8.46: 14 AM

REPRESENTATI VE GATTO responded, "This bill is not about us; this
bill is all about the public.”

REPRESENTATI VE = COGHI LL, in response to a question from
Representative Gatto, confirmed that | egi sl ative special
sessions can follow inmediately after regular sessions. He said
he t hi nks excl usive |anguage in the bill could be problematic.
8:47:49 AM

TAMW WLSON, testifying on behalf of herself, said the
commttee is mssing the point that the legislation is about the
interaction that all constituents want to experience. She said
the only reason she was able to afford comng to the capital was
because the airline had a special rate and she had a daughter
living in Juneau who could house her. She said the nopbney spent
in another city in Al aska boosts that city's econony. She
remar ked on the enthusiasm of public participants of the recent
special session held in Anchorage, and noted that some of them
had travel ed down from Fairbanks. M. WIson tal ked about being
able to bring children to talk to |legislators one on one, not to
"a black box on a table." She asked the conmittee to support HB
318.

8:49: 50 AM
REPRESENTATI VE COGHI LL thanked Ms. WIlson for "comng out and

speaking to the black box." He reminded Ms. WIson that the
bill would require special sessions to be held outside of

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE -10- February 19, 2008



Juneau, but where regular sessions should be held is a bigger
i ssue for another venue.

M5. WLSON remarked that sonetines it is difficult to understand
testinmony if sonmeone does not speak into the mcrophone, so at
| east having special session where she can be in the sane room
with the testifiers and commttee nmenbers would be better than
the present situation.

8:51: 01 AM

VIVIAN STIVER testified on behalf of herself in support of HB
318. She stated her belief that special sessions should be nore
accessible to the popul ation, because the issues dealt with in
them are usually ones about which people in the comunity are
passi onat e. She said people are nore likely to participate if
they can cone see legislators face to face, but the cost of
going to Juneau is prohibitive for a mpjority of Alaskans.
Hol di ng [special sessions] on the road system woul d nake [public
participation] much nore accessible and affordable. In response
to a question from Chair Lynn, she said she is a small business
owner who sits on the Fairbanks Cty Council.

8:52:28 AM

WN GRUENING Alaska Committee, testified on behalf of the
Al aska Committee, which he stated is an all-volunteer, nonprofit
group in Juneau dedicated to inproving and enhancing Juneau as
Al aska's capital city. He said it nmakes little sense to try to
duplicate "all the infrastructure, offices, staffing, and Gave
to Gavel coverage" that currently exist in the capital city and
pay the related cost of doing so by nobving special sessions to
another city or cities, particularly when a special session
i mredi ately follows a regular session and the entire |egislature
is convened in the capitol.

MR. GRUENING stated that Gavel to Gavel coverage is available
and provides the greatest access to all Al askans. To previous
testifiers who tal ked about the disconnection between thensel ves
and the legislature, he suggested nonitoring the neetings on
television where they could see the expressions of the
| egi slators better than if they were sitting in the back of the
committee room At this point in time, he said, it is not clear
if it would be technically feasible to provide Gavel to Gavel
coverage in another city that was not equipped for it.

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE -11- February 19, 2008



MR. GRUENI NG regarding the sponsor's statenent, said it is hard

to understand where any cost savings would be realized. Per
diem is paid to all legislators, regardless of where the
| egi sl ature neets, and, as has been pointed out, per diem in
Anchorage is nmuch higher than it is in Juneau. The cost of
providing a special session in another city would Dbe
substantially nore than it is in Juneau, he said, and that does
not include the cost - currently $500,000 a year - of producing

Gavel to Gavel coverage, which is provided primarily through the
support of the comunity of Juneau. M. Guening noted that the
cost of the recent speci al session in Anchorage was
approximately 50 percent higher than a simlar session that was
held in Juneau in 2004. Even at al nost double the price, those

costs did not include facility rental fees, because the
af orenenti oned special session in Anchorage took place in
donated facilities. Furthernore, there was no Gavel to Cavel

coverage, he rem nded the commttee.
8:56: 23 AM

MR. CGRUENI NG asked how holding a special session that is not
televised or covered by Gavel to Gavel would increase access.
He said it would increase access for the several dozen people
who may attend a special session in another city, but would take
access away from thousands of potential people who would watch
it on Gavel to Gavel. M. Guening said mllions of dollars
have been spent by the community of Juneau, in partnership with
the local public television station, to design and construct the
currently used system and none of the funding for that system
canme from the |egislature. He listed the following as required
to make [Gavel to Gavel] run seam essly: mles of cabling,
expensive video caneras, new production studios, di gi tal
swi tches, satellite link up, stream ng technology, storage for
archiving, the training of personnel, production procedures, and
vari ous back-up systens. He reenphasized the length of time and
the expense necessary to duplicate such coverage, and he said
none of that is considered in the bill before the commttee.

MR. GRUENI NG said the proposed legislation is pronoted as saving
costs and increasing access to the legislature. He continued:

The sponsor points to the special session held |ast

year as an exanple of how inportant this bill is, yet
the fact that a special session was held outside the
capital city proves only t hat this bil | IS
unnecessary. As Representative Coghill pointed out,

the legislature or the governor can make a decision

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE -12- February 19, 2008



any tinme it wants to call a special session in any

| ocation in Alaska .... Al this bill does is limt
the options available to either party to pick the best
| ocati on. The irony here is that if the bill passed
and ... sone natural disaster occurred in Southcentra

- a vol cano, an earthquake, a flood; natural disasters
that have occurred in Southcentral in the not-too-
di stant past - you would have to pass another law to

nove it to Juneau, even tenporarily.

MR. GRUENI NG urged the commttee to hold HB 318. He stated that
the bill not only does not provide any authority beyond what is
avai lable now, it limts existing authority. He said he is not
denying that there may be future reasons to hold a special
session in another part of the state, but he said he does not
think it should be done without fully analyzing the costs and
considering the issue of Gavel to Gavel coverage.

8:59:31 AM

RANDY WANNAMAKER, Deputy Mayor, Cty & Borough of Juneau (CBJ),
testified on behalf of CBJ. He stated that over the years, the
Juneau Assenbly has consistently supported both the conpletion
of the Juneau access road project and funding for the Al aska
Mari ne H ghway system He said the highway systemis a part of
the interconnected state road system the federal governnent
shares that view and provides federal highway funds for various
transportation systens across Al aska, including the Lynn Cana

project and the Al aska Marine Hi ghway System He warned that
passage of HB 318 could hinder both federal [and] state funding
for these road systens.

MR. WANNAMAKER echoed M. Guening's testinony that the
| egislature already has the ability to call a special session
anywhere in the state. He said the bill assunes that there wll
never be "a project or issue so unique to the people and
resources of another region of the state that the legislature
woul d never consider holding a special session in that region.”
He questioned the w sdom of that way of thinking. Regarding the
argurment that the bill would allow the legislature proximty to
the mpjority of the population, he noted that 33 of the 50
United States do not have state capitals located in their
| argest cities.

MR. WANNAMAKER said the Juneau Assenbly has consistently

supported the Kensington Gold Mne as a neans of diversifying
its local and regional econony, but he warned that the passage

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE -13- February 19, 2008



of HB 318 would "weaken our econony." He said Al askans need to
work on inproving all nodes of transportation and conmuni cation
between regions. He urged the commttee to preserve the current
flexibility the legislature already has to call special sessions
wherever it so chooses. He also remarked that air travel to
| egi sl ative session is comon in the Lower 48.

9:04: 35 AM

REPRESENTATI VE JOHNSQON, regarding previous testinony about Gavel
to Gavel, tal ked about advances in technology and said, "... the
mllions of dollars that you spend here is not needed there,
because it already exists in three or four places.” He

clarified that although Gavel to Gavel coverage is an issue, it
is not a"bill killer.™

9:05:19 AM

CHAI R LYNN cl osed public testinony.

[ HB 318 was heard and hel d. ]

9:05: 29 AM

CHAI R LYNN briefly discussed the upcom ng conmttee cal endar.

ADJ QURNIVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

State Affairs Standing Committee neeting was adjourned at
9: 05: 39 AM

HOUSE STA COWM TTEE -14- February 19, 2008



